IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DAVID E.	KING,	:
	Petitioner,	:
vs.		:
STATE OF	FLORIDA,	:
	Respondent.	:
		•

OF FLORIDA	5
OF FLORIDA	
	C 1988
Case No. 69,42	O Hopely Clark

ON APPEAL FROM THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

Allyn Giambalvo Assistant Public Defender Criminal Court Building 5100 - 144th Avenue North Clearwater, Florida 33520

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, David E. King, was charged with five counts of Kidnapping and three counts of Armed Robbery. Petitioner was found guilty on all counts by the jury. Petitioner made a motion for judgment of acquittal as to the kidnapping charges, which was granted. Petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced to twenty-five years on each charge to run concurrently. The three year minimum mandatory for possession of a firearm was imposed. Petitioner was also adjudged to be a habitual offender. In so sentencing Petitioner, the court exceeded the guideline recommended sentence of seven to nine years. Petitioner timely filed a Notice of Appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Second District. In a written opinion the Second District Court of Appeal held that the determination of Petitioner to be a habitual offender was sufficient reason in itself to exceed the guideline recommendation. However, recognizing that other districts had held to the contrary, the court certified the following question as being a matter of great public importance.

Is the determination of a defendant as a habitual felony offender pursuant to section 775.084 a sufficient reason for departure from the recommended range of the sentencing guidelines?

Petitioner filed his Petition for Discretionary review, F.R.A.P. 9.030(2)(B)(i) with the Florida Supreme Court, and the court accepted jurisdiction. Petitioner addresses the issue raised by the certified question. That argument follows.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner's habitualization pursuant to Florida Statute 775.084 was improper because the court failed to make more than mere conclusory findings that Petitioner was a danger to society. Even assuming Petitioner was properly habitualized, habitualization is not a proper basis for departure because by its very nature it is based on factors already used to compute the presumptive sentence.

ARGUMENT

IS THE DETERMINATION OF A DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084 A SUFFICIENT REASON FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE RECOMMENDED RANGE OF THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES? (As certified by the Second District Court of Appeal)

Petitioner was sentenced to twenty-five years on each of three counts of armed robbery, all to run concurrently. The recommended sentence pursuant to the sentencing guidelines was seven to nine years. The trial court's sole justification for departure and the only written reason given was that Petitioner was adjudged to be a habitual felony offender. (R57) The order finding Petitioner to be a habitual offender merely states:

"The court finds that the defendant has

been previously convicted of a felony
said conviction was [within] the last
five years
There has been no pardon

and the defendant presents a danger to society. For the protection of society this court finds him to be a habitual offender. As such the guidelines will be exceeded." (R56)

Petitioner first contends that the court's justification for habitualizing him was insufficient, therefore, the court's sole reason for departure was invalid. Even assuming that the court was correct in finding Petitioner to be a habitual offender, it

was still improper to justify a guideline departure on that basis because the process of habitualization involves factors already used in computing the recommended sentence.

The habitual offender statute, Florida Statute 775.084 specifically requires that the trial court make findings of fact that demonstrate on their face that an extended sentence is necessary to protect the public from the defendant's further criminal conduct. A conclusory statement that an extended sentence is necessary for the protection of the public is insufficient. Hugger v. State, (2d DCA October 17, 1986)[11 F.L.W. 2216], Brown v. State, (5th DCA September 25, 1986)[11 F.L.W. 2049], Walker v. State, 462 So.2d 452 (Fla. 1985), Sims v. State, 487 So.2d 37 (2d DCA 1986) and Cavallaro v. State, 420 So.2d 927 (2d DCA 1982). In the instant case, the written findings supporting habitualization, were no more than blanket conclusions. The written findings first stated that Petitioner met the criteria for habitualization, ie., prior felony conviction within the last five years, and then the statement that Petitioner was a danger to society and for the protection of society, Petitioner was found to be a habitual offender. The court's oral statements during sentencing were of the same ilk. (R73) Clearly, the trial court's findings, both written and oral, failed to meet the statutory requirements of specific facts supporting the conclusion that an extended term is necessary to protect the public.

Even assuming that Petitioner was properly habitualized, in light of Hendrix v. State, 475 So.2d 1218 (Fla. 1985), habitualization is an improper basis for departure as Hendrix disapproves of departures based upon any factor already utilized in arriving at the presumptive sentence. Under the habitual offender statute a defendant's prior conviction(s) and current conviction(s) are the sole necessary factual basis for the determination that the defendant is a habitual offender pursuant to Florida Statute 775.084, Brown, supra, Teague v. State, 491 So.2d 296 (5th DCA 1986), Watson v. State, 492 So.2d 831 (5th DCA 1986), Bouthner v. State, 489 So.2d 784 (5th DCA 1986) and Vicknair v. State, 483 So.2d 896 (5th DCA 1986). Needless to say Petitioner's prior record and current conviction(s) were factored into the scoresheet and utilized in arriving at the recommended sentence, as well as being the trial court's primary consideration for feeling Petitioner should be habitualized and his sentence aggravated beyond the recommended seven to nine years.

From the available decisions on this point it is clear that the Fifth District Court of Appeal's position is that habitualization is an improper basis for departure from the guideline recommendation because it relies on factors already used in arriving at the presumptive sentence. This is not to say that in certain instances that the trial court's reasons for

habitualization may overlap with its reasons for departure, nor that habitualization does not serve any purpose in the current sentencing scheme. The First District Court of Appeal and the Second District Court of Appeal hold that if the defendant is properly habitualized this reason alone justifies a guideline departure. In view of the recent amendments to the guidelines, see <u>The Florida Bar</u> re: Rules of Criminal Procedure (sentencing guidelines, 3.701, 3.988) 482 So.2d 311 (Fla. 1985) the position of the Fifth District Court of Appeal would appear to be more in accord with the rule. The amendment reads:

If the offender is sentenced under
section 775.084 (habitual offender),
the maximum allowable sentence is in-
creased as provided by the operation
of that statute. If the sentence im-
posed departs from the recommended
sentence, the provisions of paragraph
(d)(11) shall apply.

The rule would require that appropriate reasons for departure be given, even if the offender is habitualized. Habitualization increases the statutory maximum sentence, it does not dispense with the requirement for clear and convincing reasons to warrant aggravation when the guidelines are exceeded.

In as much as the trial court's sole basis for exceeding the guidelines was Petitioner's habitualization and the sole basis for habitualization was the court's conclusory statements that it was necessary for the protection of the public, the entire

sentencing structure must collapse. Even if Petitioner's habitualization provided a firmer foundation, it would still not support a departure because it was based solely on Petitioner's prior record, a reason held to be improper in <u>Hendrix</u>, <u>supra</u>. Petitioner's sentence should be vacated and remanded for resentencing.

CONCLUSION

In light of the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, Petitioner respectfully asks this Honorable Court to vacate Petitioner's sentence and remand for resentencing.