12-13-86 IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA Deputy DAVID E. KING, Petitioner, CASE NO. 69,420 THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON MERITS

JAMES A. YOUNG Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

JY/ctc

v.

Respondent.

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Florida Supreme Court on discretionary review of the decision of the Second District Court of Appeal on the basis of a question certified to be of great public importance. In this brief, the parties will be referred to by their proper names or as they stand before this Court. The letter "R" will be used to designate a reference to the record on appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the Statement of the Case and Facts as presented by Petitioner in his brief except where specifically pointed out in Argument.

# SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The facts of this case do not present the question certified by the Second District Court of Appeal. On that basis, the Court should refuse to answer the certified question and decline to accept jurisdiction of this case.

Alternatively, if jurisdiction is accepted, the Court should reconsider its recent decision holding that the sentencing guidelines, by implication, repeal the habitual offender statute. The two may be reconciled as intended by the Guidelines Commission. On that basis, the decision of the Second District should be approved.

#### ARGUMENT

# Question Certified

IS THE DETERMINATION OF A DEFENDANT AS A HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER PURSUANT TO SECTION 775.084 A SUFFICIENT REASON FOR DEPARTURE FROM THE RECOMMENDED RANGE OF THE SENTENCING GUIDELINES?

The State first contends that this Court should decline to accept this case to answer the certified question on the ground that the facts of this case do not fairly present that question for determination. In the Second District Court of Appeal, Petitioner did not attack the trial court's findings which formed the basis for the enhanced habitual offender sentence. The only issue raised there was whether determination of a defendant as a habitual felony offender is a valid reason for departure from the sentencing guidelines. Accordingly, the Second District's decision was confined to answering that issue.

What has been overlooked until now by both parties and by both the trial and appellate courts, is that the offenses for which Appellant was convicted (R. 50), first-degree felonies punishable by life imprisonment under Fla. Stat. §812.13(2)(a), could not be the subject of an enhanced sentence pursuant

to the habitual offender statute, Fla. Stat. §775.084(4)(a). A sentence already punishable by life imprisonment cannot be further enhanced or extended under that statute. Accordingly, this case does not factually present the question certified. The State, therefore, submits that this Court does not have jurisdiction to answer a certified question not fairly presented by the record and factually at issue.

Should the Court accept jurisdiction, however, and reach the merits of Petitioner's claim, Respondent contends that the certified question should be answered in the affirmative. The State is aware of this Court's recent decision in Whitehead v. State, No. 67,053 (Fla. October 30, 1986)[11FLW 553], but strongly urges the Court to reconsider its holding in that case. The Sentencing Guidelines Commission's recommended amendment to Committee Note (d)(11) clearly indicates that the Commission's intent with respect to the operation of the guidelines and the habitual offender statute is contrary to that expressed by this Court in Whitehead. Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure Re: Sentencing Guidelines 3.701 and 3.988, Case No. 69,411 (Fla., pet-tion filed October 1, 1986).

As Justice Overton points out in his dissenting opinion, the guidelines and the habitual offender statute may be reconciled and read together. Objective consideration of the existence of a defendant's prior record by scoresheet computation does not take into account the type of subjective criteria considered in concluding that an enhanced sentence is necessary for the protection of the public.

Perhaps more importantly, <u>Whitehead</u> ignores an important function of the habitual offender statute and an easier reconciliation of that statute with the guidelines. Wholesale repeal of the habitual offender statute by implication would preclude a trial court from enhancing a sentence to permit the statutory maximum to conform to the guidelines presumptive range. That is, where the statutory maximum sentence is less than the presumptive range, but for the decision in <u>Whitehead</u>, the trial judge could enhance the statutory maximum for the offense under §775.084(4)(a) and impose a higher sentence <u>within</u> the presumptive range in conformity with the guidelines. As it stands, <u>Whitehead</u> not only frustrates clear legislative intent to raise the statutory maximum for offenses under circumstances enumerated in §775.084, but ignores basic principles of statutory construction. If it is the intention of our legislature to

repeal or modify the habitual offender statute in the wake of sentencing guidelines, as it was that of the Minnesota legislature as noted in the Whitehead decision, then it should be that governmental body's responsibility. Until such time, the habitual offender statute and the guidelines should be read together and both given effect as intended by the Guidelines Commission as evidenced by its proposed amendments now being considered by this Court. On that basis, the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal should be approved.

In addition to the certified question, Petitioner also asserts that the trial court's findings are inadequate to support the conclusion that sentencing under the habitual offender statute was necessary for the protection of the public. This Court has held that once it has jurisdiction of a cause, it has jurisdiction to consider all issues appropriately raised in the appellate process. <a href="Savoie v. State">Savoie v. State</a>, 422 So.2d 312 (Fla. 1982). Here, however, this claim was not presented to the Second District on direct appeal and is, therefore, not properly before this Court.

Even if this Court does find this additional claim properly preserved, a review of the record reveals that Petitioner's prior criminal record was analyzed in terms of Petitioner's pattern of behavior over a period of years. The trial court

found a continuous pattern of crimes committed by Petitioner with the exception of the period of time in which he was in the Florida State Prison system, and that enhancement was, therefore, necessary to protect the public. (R. 70-73). The trial court made sufficient findings to support its conclusion that sentencing under the habitual offender statute was necessary to protect the public. White v. State, No. 85-316 (Fla. 2nd DCA, January 8, 1986)[11 FLW 174].

### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasons, arguments and authorities, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court decline to accept jurisdiction in this case and alternatively to answer the certified question in the affirmative approving the opinion of the Second District Court of Appeal.